FILED 08-21-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Respondent,

v.

ALFRED TALYANSKY, SW TRANSMISSIONS MANAGER, LLC, REMANNS, LLC, REMANNS MANAGER, LLC, QUALITY USED ENGINES, LLC, ENGINE RECYCLER MANAGER, LLC, QUALITY USED TRANSMISSIONS, LLC, QUALITY USED TRANSMISSIONS MANAGER, LLC, QUALITY USED ENGINES MANAGER, LLC, MIDWEST AUTO RECYCLING, LLC, ENGINE SHOPPER, LLC, ENGINE SHOPPER MANAGER, LLC, ENGINE & TRANSMISSION WORLD, LLC, BELDEN MFG, LLC, APLS ACQUISITION, LLC AND ENGINE RECYCLER, LLC, SW ENGINES MANAGER, LLC, SW ENGINES, LLC, SW TRANSMISSIONS, LLC, U NEED ENGINES MANAGER, LLC, U NEED ENGINES, LLC,

INTRODUCTION

This is a case of first impression in Wisconsin with incredibly farreaching consequences. Here, the State of Wisconsin has, for the first time, attempted to bring suit under Wisconsin's Deceptive Trade Practices Act, seeking to enforce Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) for online advertising received and acted upon outside the state.

The State has claimed the Wisconsin Department of Justice can sue under Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) on behalf of a claimed violation occurring in Arkansas, California, or any other state, with the only caveat being that the business advertises in Wisconsin. In this case, only one Wisconsin consumer testified at trial, yet the State contends that it is entitled to recover on behalf of hundreds of consumers across the country who received advertising in other states and have virtually no connection to Wisconsin.

At the same time, the State acknowledged and endorsed an approach where any other State can sue the business for the exact same alleged conduct. In other words, for *one alleged fraudulent misrepresentation* a business advertising in Wisconsin could theoretically be sued by *all fifty states' attorneys general* (all 50 states have their own version consumer protection laws).

Recognizing the absurdity of the above scenario, and the numerous constitutional issues created by this interpretation, the Circuit Court and federal courts in the Eastern District of Wisconsin unanimously rejected the State's interpretation and concluded that a company's advertising conduct in Wisconsin cannot serve as the basis for regulation of its advertising in other locales.

Although both the Circuit Court and federal courts correctly understood that the State's attempted reach was too broad, the Court of Appeals, in what is recommended to be a published opinion, reversed and has now upheld the State's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18. As set forth in detail below, the Court's Decision is improperly based on a flawed textual analysis, fails to address the extraterritorial application of state statutes, and does not consider the economic impact this decision would have on any business that advertises in Wisconsin. The State will use this decision as a test case to push the limits of how far it can extend the reach of Wisconsin law. Left untouched, the decision will allow the State of Wisconsin to apply its laws on a nationwide basis with devastating effects on interstate commerce and Wisconsin business all in the name of protecting consumers in other states. This result is plainly incorrect and permits a clear overreach of state power.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the State has the authority to regulate advertising conduct which is received and acted upon by consumers in other states under Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1)?

Answer by the Circuit Court. No. The Circuit Court granted Midwest's motion for reconsideration of summary judgment motion, which limited the issues and State's witnesses at trial.

Answer by the Court of Appeals. Yes. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Circuit Court for a new trial.

II. Whether the State must establish that a consumer suffered a pecuniary loss under Wis. Stat. § 100.18?

Answer by the Circuit Court. Yes. The Circuit Court found that the State of Wisconsin had to prove a pecuniary loss.

Answer by the Court of Appeals. No. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Circuit Court for a new trial.

III. If the State is not required to prove pecuniary loss under Wis. Stat. § 100.18, was the Circuit Court's error harmless?

Answer by the Circuit Court. This issue did not arise in the Circuit Court.

Answer by the Court of Appeals. No. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Circuit Court for a new trial.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This Petition warrants review by the Wisconsin Supreme Court under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Principal among those reasons is the following:

(a) This case contains significant questions of federal and state constitutional law meriting review. See Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a). The Court of Appeals decision allows for extraterritorial application of a Wisconsin statute to a nationwide class of consumers and produces unconstitutional results. The Court of Appeals plain language interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) is also inconsistent with multiple recent Wisconsin federal district court decisions that are in direct contradiction to the Court of Appeals' interpretation, and which held extraterritorial application of § 100.18 was not intended or permitted. *T&M Farms v. CNH Indus. Am., LLC*, 488 F. Supp. 3d 756 (E.D. Wis. 2020); *Hydraulics Int'l, Inc. v. Amalga Composites, Inc.*, No. 20-CV-371, 2022 WL 4273475 (E.D. Wis. Sept. 15, 2022).

(b) This case requires the Supreme Court to develop, clarify or harmonize the law meriting review. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c). Up until the recent Court of Appeals' decision, which has been recommended for publication, there have been no other Wisconsin decisions interpreting the application of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) to those that receive an alleged false advertisement from a Wisconsin business, outside of Wisconsin. The Supreme Court decision will help "develop" and "clarify" whether the State of Wisconsin has the authority to regulate a company's activities beyond the boundaries of Wisconsin. This is a "novel," but significant issue that will likely impact all Wisconsin businesses, and one of first impression in Wisconsin. This case also presents a question of law that is likely to recur unless resolved by the Supreme Court. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)(2)-(3).

The impact of the issues presented here goes far beyond the confines of this case and are likely to impact any Wisconsin business. The State of Wisconsin brought this case as a consumer protection action pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 100.18, the Deceptive Trade Practices Act, similar lawsuits are likely to be brought against other businesses in the future.

The Court of Appeals has determined that the plain language of Wis. Stat. \S 100.18(1) empowers the State to bring an action against any business

for making false advertisements and/or misrepresentations regardless of whether the recipient of said false advertising was located outside of Wisconsin. Thus, any business engaged in nationwide advertising, including online advertising, would be directly impacted by the Court of Appeals decision and would be subject to Wisconsin consumer protection law even while engaging in transactions wholly outside the State of Wisconsin.

Concerningly, under the Court of Appeal's Decision, Wisconsin consumer protection law becomes the de facto national law for all businesses who engage in some degree of advertising in Wisconsin, regardless of whether their advertising is received outside the boarders of this state by consumers in other locales. Under the Court of Appeal's interpretation, the Wisconsin statute is improperly elevated to national application.

Review is proper to prevent an overreach of the State of Wisconsin's authority to impose Wisconsin laws outside of Wisconsin, which would pose serious constitutional and policy questions for all businesses that advertise in Wisconsin.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Wisconsin filed this complex forfeiture action against the Petitioners pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 100.18, the Deceptive Trade Practices Act (hereinafter, "100.18"). The State alleged Petitioners (hereinafter, "Midwest") made false and misleading advertisements over the telephone and in online advertisements.

On July 27, 2018, Midwest filed a motion for partial summary judgment concerning whether the State could seek forfeitures and restitution on behalf of out-of-state consumers who received the advertising outside of the State of Wisconsin. The motion was denied. *State v. Alfred Talyansky, et al.*, No. 2022AP788, slip op., 2023 WL 4743199, ¶ 9 (Wis. Ct. App. July 25, 2023) (recommended for publication). On March 1, 2021, Midwest filed a motion for reconsideration relating to the motion for partial summary judgment based on Judge Adelman's recent decision in *T&M Farms v. CNH Indus. Am., LLC*, 488 F. Supp. 3d 756 (E.D. Wis. 2020). *Talyansky*, ¶ 13. The Circuit Court granted the motion ruling that "incidents that occurred outside Wisconsin, meaning dealing with residents of other states, is not

admissible," and therefore, out-of-state consumer testimony was not permitted as it would be "unfairly and unduly prejudicial." *Talyansky*, ¶ 19. On November 29, 2021, a jury trial commenced. Talyansky, ¶ 20. At trial, the State called only one Wisconsin consumer to testify regarding the alleged misrepresentations. (R. 338:161-211.) A jury found Midwest's advertisements to Wisconsin residents were not untrue, deceptive or misleading, and that Midwest did not make untrue, deceptive or misleading representations concerning testing or mileage, but that Midwest published a misrepresentation as to the business location on four websites. *Talyansky*, ¶ 23. The jury also found that State failed to prove a Wisconsin consumer had suffered a monetary loss due to a misrepresentation of the business location. Id.

The State appealed alleging raising the following issues: (1) whether the Circuit Court erred in precluding the State from applying 100.18(1) to out-of-state consumers, and (2) whether the Circuit Court erred in requiring the State to establish a pecuniary loss.¹ *Talyansky*, ¶ 25.

As set forth in detail below, the Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court on both issues. Specifically, the Court of Appeals determined that the State had authority to enforce 100.18 regardless of where the advertising was received or acted upon. *Talyansky*, ¶ 30. The Court of Appeals also determined that the Circuit Court erred when it instructed the jury that the State had to prove a pecuniary loss under 100.18, and that such error was not harmless. *Talyansky*, ¶ 42, 44. The case was then remanded back to the Circuit Court for a new trial. *Talyansky*, ¶ 45.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that 100.18 Empowers the State to Regulate Conduct Occurring Outside Wisconsin.

The plain language of 100.18 requires that a representation be "made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed before the public" in

¹ Midwest filed a cross-appeal relating to the Circuit Court's decision denying costs under Wis. Stat. §§ 814.03 & 804.04. This issue is not the subject of this Petition.

Wisconsin before a violation exists. *Gilson v. Rainin Instrument, LLC*, No. 04-C-852-S, 2005 WL 955251, at *12 (W.D. Wis. Apr. 25, 2015) ("However convoluted the language of the statute [100.18] one thing is clear: in order for liability to attach there must be some statement made in Wisconsin...").

The statute contains two clauses. The first clause lists the methods by which the prohibited conduct may occur stating, "make, publish, circulate, or place before the public." The second clause modifies the first and provides a territorial limitation applicable to each of the foregoing methods restricting application of the statute to the State of Wisconsin through the use of the language, "in this state." Wis. Stat. § 100.18.

The phrase "in this state" is not ambiguous, and clearly refers to the state of Wisconsin. Under a plain language interpretation, 100.18 simply does not regulate advertisements placed before the public in states other than Wisconsin. Despite this clear territorial limitation imposed by the statute, the Court of Appeals determined that the State may enforce 100.18 with respect to advertisements received or placed in other states.

A. The Court of Appeals Erred by Determining that 100.18 Could be Applied Extraterritorially

The Court of Appeals determined that 100.18 could be applied to Midwest's conduct in other states noting that the legislature could have included specific language in the statute restricting its application only to consumers who receive the advertisement in Wisconsin. *See Talyansky*, 2023 WL 4743199 at ¶ 32 ("the legislature could have added language that limited a violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) to a consumer based in Wisconsin, but chose not to do so"). However, this argument turns the statutory presumption against extraterritorial application of statutes on its head and is inconsistent with Wisconsin's framework for statutory interpretation.

It is well settled that a state's ability to shape policy through enforcement of its laws necessarily begins and ends at its borders. It is axiomatic that no single state is entitled to elevate its policy choices above those of other states and no state may usurp the federal government's exclusive ability to create nation-wide legislation. *See, e.g., Pennoyer v. Neff*, 95 U.S. 714, 722 (1877) ("an elementary principle[] that the laws of one State have no operation outside of its territory except so far as is allowed by comity").

Recognizing the limits of state authority, the Wisconsin State Constitution declares that "[t]he sovereignty and jurisdiction of this state extend to all places within the boundaries declared in article II of the constitution."² Similarly, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has declared that "[t]he general rule, unquestionably, is that law of a state have no extraterritorial effect." State v. Mueller, 44 Wis. 2d 387, 391, 171 N.W.2d (1969); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 421-22 (2003) (quoting Bigelow v. Virginia, 421 U.S. 809, 824 (1975)) ("A State does not acquire power or supervision over the internal affairs of another State merely because the welfare and health of its own citizens may be affected. . . . "); Wis. Indus. Energy Grp., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 2012 WI 89, ¶ 46, 342 Wis. 2d 576, 819 N.W.2d 240 ("[t]he general rule, unquestionably, is that laws of a state have no extraterritorial effect. . . we cannot ignore the State or Wisconsin's lack of authority to regulate a person's activities in another state."); see also K-S Pharmacies, Inc. v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 962 F.2d 728, 730 (7th Cir. 1992) (discussing the "presumption of exclusive domestic application" based on states' lack of "any . . . power to reach outside their borders"). Absent clear language indicating that a statute is intended to have extraterritorial application, courts will not empower parties, much less the State itself, to bring suit under Wisconsin law for conduct occurring elsewhere. Wis. Indus. Energy Grp., 2012 WI 89 ¶ 46; K-S Pharmacies, 962 F.2d at 730.

With these basic principles of federalism in mind, each of the fifty states has adopted their own unique statutory schemes relating to consumer protection and advertising.³ Yet, the Court of Appeals determined that applying 100.18 to advertisements which were made to consumers in other states, received in other states, and acted upon in other states involved no

² Article II of the Wisconsin Constitution describes the geographic boundaries of the State.

³ Carolyn Carter, *Consumer Protection in the States, A 50-State Evaluation of Unfair & Deceptive Practices Law*, Nat'l Consumer L. Ctr. (2018), https://filearchive.nclc.org/udap/udap-report.pdf.

extraterritorial application of law because the State is regulating a Wisconsin business. *See Talyansky*, ¶ 36.

Midwest is not disputing the State's ability to enforce Wisconsin law where the conduct at issue occurred in Wisconsin. Rather, Midwest disputes the State's ability to regulate its advertising conduct in other states, which is received and acted upon in those states by out-of-state consumers. Applying Wisconsin law to conduct and practices occurring in other states is a clear case of extraterritorial application of state law. *See Mueller*, 44 Wis. 2d at 391; *State Farm*, 538 U.S. at 421-22. The mere fact that a business is incorporated in Wisconsin does not alter this conclusion and is insufficient to apply Wisconsin law to all of its conduct anywhere in the world. *State Farm*, 538 U.S. at 421-22.

Neither the Court of Appeals nor the State have pointed to any language in 100.18—nor does any such language exist—that directly contemplates or even suggests that regulating conduct in other states is permitted. Absent such language, 100.18 cannot be interpreted to regulate advertising carried on outside the State of Wisconsin.

B. The Court of Appeals Erred by Focusing on Advertiser Conduct While Ignoring Language Requiring the Recipient to be Located in Wisconsin.

The Court of Appeals concludes that 100.18 prohibits advertisers from making, publishing, disseminating, or causing such advertisements to be made, published, or disseminated in Wisconsin without direct reference to the conduct of the consumer or recipient. *Talyansky*, ¶¶ 30-32. However, the mere fact that a statute primarily references advertiser conduct is not dispositive of *where* advertisers can be regulated.

In its singular focus on advertiser conduct, the Court of Appeals ignores the remaining statutory language which requires that an advertisement be "placed before the public" followed by the language "in this state." This language expressly contemplates the location of the recipient of the advertising and requires that the recipient be located within Wisconsin before a cause of action exists. Ignoring this statutory language is illogical and renders this element perfunctory in all online advertising cases. An interpretation which requires only dissemination or circulation of an advertisement in Wisconsin, regardless of where the consumer receives or acts upon said advertising, renders all online advertising subject to 100.18 as nearly every online webpage is accessible and theoretically circulated in Wisconsin.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' Decision, 100.18 does contain an explicit geographic limitation on where the consumer must be located. The statute contains no language indicating that placement of advertising before the public in any other state is actionable, and as a result, the State is not permitted to enforce 100.18 with respect to consumers receiving advertising in other locations.

C. The Court of Appeals Erred in Determining that the Placement of a Comma Allowed for Regulation of Advertising Outside Wisconsin.

The Court of Appeals determined that the phrase "before the public" was not modified by the phrase "in this state." *Talyansky*, ¶¶ 30-32. Instead, in the Court's view, only the first portion of the statute prohibiting making, disseminating, publishing, circulating, or causing an advertisement to be made must occur within Wisconsin whereas the requirement that an advertisement be placed before the public has no geographic limitation.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court improperly emphasizes the comma that separates the phrase "before the public" and "in this state" arguing that if the phrase "in this state" modified the phrase "before the public," there would be no need for a comma. This analysis fails to consider the grammatical structure of the statute in context of *all* its language.

The relevant text of Wis. Stat. §100.18(1) provides:

No person, firm, corporation . . . *shall make, publish, disseminate, circulate, or place <u>before the public</u>, or cause, directly or indirectly, to <i>be made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed <u>before the public</u>, in this state, in a newspaper, magazine or other publication, . . . an advertisement, announcement, statement or representation of any kind to the public relating to such purchase . . . which advertisement, announcement, statement or representation contains any assertion,*

representation or statement of fact which is untrue, deceptive or misleading.

Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) (emphasis added).

The Court's analysis ignores the fact that the clause, or "cause, directly or indirectly, to be *made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed before the public*" modifies the clause ". . ., *shall make, publish, disseminate, circulate, or place before the public*." This second clause is the only reason why there is a comma before "*in this state.*" If the second clause is removed, there would be no comma before "in this state." Further, it is illogical to conclude that "in this state" only modifies one of the two preceding clauses when those clauses are related enumerations of prohibited conduct. The only logical conclusion is that 100.18 was meant to protect the public in Wisconsin, and not everywhere else in the world.

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