FILED 09-05-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN**

SUPREME COURT

Filed 09-05-2023

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP788

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

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

REASONS THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners argue that this case presents a significant question of federal and state constitutional law, justifying review under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.62(1r)(a), and that this Court must develop, clarify or harmonize the law, justifying review under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.62(1r)(c). Review is not warranted under either criterion.

There is no need for this Court to develop or clarify the law because the court of appeals has already correctly interpreted the law on both issues, in a decision recommended for publication. Moreover, the court of appeals' interpretation presents no constitutional problems related to extraterritoriality or the dormant commerce clause. Simply put, there is nothing problematic about the State of Wisconsin enforcing its laws against businesses operating within its borders just because they advertise on the internet.

I. The court of appeals correctly interpreted the statute.

There is no need for this Court to clarify or harmonize the law because the court of appeals correctly interpreted the statute. First, the plain text applies to misrepresentations made in Wisconsin, which includes Wisconsin businesses making a representation that travels to other states. Second, the statute does not require the State to prove a pecuniary loss, as this Court has already recognized. That makes sense given that the State, unlike a private plaintiff, can seek injunctive relief to prevent future losses from occurring.

A. The Deceptive Trade Practices Act applies to representations made in Wisconsin.

The statutory interpretation question is straightforward: whether an in-state business that makes representations in Wisconsin has made those representations

Filed 09-05-2023

"in this state" within the meaning of the statute. While the subsection is long, it prohibits (1) "mak[ing]" or "caus[ing] . . . to be made" (2) "in this state" an "advertisement" or other representation that contains an "untrue, deceptive or misleading" statement. Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1).

Petitioners' alleged conduct meets both elements. They "made" statements on their websites and via email and telephone communications that were false, deceptive or misleading, and they made those statements from their principal place of business in Wisconsin. Petitioners want to read an additional requirement into the statute: that the misrepresentation must be received by a Wisconsin resident. That addition violates core principles of statutory interpretation.

The analysis "begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, [courts] ordinarily stop the inquiry." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (citation omitted). "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." Id. Moreover, "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. ¶ 46. "If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." Id. (citation omitted).

Section 100.18(1) provides that no one "shall make, publish, disseminate, circulate, or place before the public, or cause, directly or indirectly, to be made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed before the public, in this state, in" various forms, "an advertisement, announcement, statement or representation of any kind to the public" that "contains any assertion, representation or statement of fact

which is untrue, deceptive or misleading." The relevant language here is "make...in this state...an advertisement." Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1). Section 100.18(1) is an old law, comprised of a long sentence, but it is not ambiguous.

The natural reading of the word "make" refers to the creation of the misrepresentation, not to its receipt by a potential customer. Black's Law Dictionary defines "make" as "1. To cause (something) to exist." *Make*, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). Under this definition, the advertisement is made in Wisconsin when the business creates it and then sends it out into the public. The statute uses verbs, like "make," that focus on the actions of the person making the representation, not on the recipient of that communication.

This is reinforced by the many synonyms for "make" used in the provision. See State v. Pinder, 2018 WI 106, ¶ 38, 384 Wis. 2d 416, 919 N.W.2d 568 (noting that words should be interpreted in the same sense as surrounding terms). Wisconsin Stat. § 100.18(1) uses the terms "publish, disseminate, circulate, or place before the public," which all focus on the advertiser's conduct. An advertisement is "published" when it goes into the world, not when someone hears it. Black's Law Dictionary defines "publish" as "1. To distribute copies (of a work) to the public." Publish, Black's Law Dictionary (emphasis added). Similarly, the word "disseminate" focuses on the actions of the advertiser and even contemplates that the advertiser's statement will spread from the advertiser out to others in the world: "disseminate" defined as "to spread abroad as though sowing seed." Disseminate, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/disseminate (last visited Sept. 1, 2023).

A Wisconsin business takes all these actions in Wisconsin, where it is located. The defendants here issued their internet advertisements from their corporate home in Cudahy, and thus made and disseminated those advertisements in Wisconsin.

Petitioners' reading goes against the statutory text. They argue the phrase "placed before the public, in this state" means that the recipient must be in Wisconsin. But the phrase "in this state" modifies all the preceding actions: make, publish, disseminate, etc. The comma in between "public" and "in this state" shows that "in this state" does not modify only the last word before it. *Talyansky*, 2023 WI App 42, ¶ 31, App. 012.

As the court of appeals also pointed out, the Legislature could easily have added language that limited Wis. Stat. § 100.18 depending on the residence of the consumer or where the representation was "received." A different section of Wis. Stat. ch. 100, regulating mail-order sales, limits claims in both ways: it defines a "buyer" as someone who both (1) "[i]s a resident of this state" and (2) "[w]hile located in this state, receives a solicitation" Wis. Stat. § 100.174(1)(a)1.–2. In contrast, in Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1), the Legislature required neither of those things. It did not limit the statute based on whether the consumer is a resident of Wisconsin or where they happen to be located when they hear or see the misrepresentation.

Petitioners' reading does not comport with the statute's text in another way. Wisconsin Stat. § 100.18(1) is a prohibition on "untrue, deceptive or misleading" advertising. Thus, the misrepresentation in the advertisement is illegal, even if a consumer has not yet acted on that misrepresentation by purchasing a product. This is why the State is allowed to seek injunctive relief: to stop the misrepresentations and prevent those losses from occurring in the first instance. See Wis. Stat. § 100.18(11)(d) (allowing

the State to seek injunctive relief but also allowing the court discretion to restore any person any pecuniary loss suffered).

Petitioners suggest federal decisions in diversity cases all go the other way, but that is not the case. See Le v. Kohls Dep't Stores, Inc., 160 F. Supp. 3d 1096, 1114–15 (E.D. Wis. 2016) (holding that Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) applies to a Wisconsin business, even in cases where the advertising is seen by consumers in other States); Demitropoulos v. Bank One Milwaukee, N.A., 915 F. Supp. 1399, 1415 (N.D. Ill. 1996) (Wis. Stat. § 100.18 "may be violated so long as the allegedly deceptive or misleading representation was 'ma[de], publish[ed], disseminate[d], circulate[d], or placed before the public, in [Wisconsin]' and the citizenship of the individual receiving the deceptive or misleading statement is of no consequence." (alteration in original)).

The *T&M Farms* decision relied on by the circuit court conducted no plain language interpretation and looked only at one purpose of the statute, "to protect Wisconsin residents from deceptive advertising." 488 F. Supp. 3d at 761. The court believed that the only way to protect Wisconsin residents from out-of-state violators of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) was to have the statute apply depending on where the misrepresentation was received. *Id.* at 762. That court made three mistakes.

First, it failed to focus on the statutory text. *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49. Second, it ignored another purpose of the statute, "to deter sellers from making false and misleading representations in order to protect the public." *Hinrichs v. DOW Chem. Co.*, 2020 WI 2, ¶ 49, 389 Wis. 2d 669, 937 N.W.2d 37 (quoting *Novell v. Migliaccio*, 2008 WI 44, ¶ 30, 309 Wis. 2d 132, 749 N.W.2d 544): not simply protecting Wisconsin consumers, but also preventing Wisconsin sellers from breaking the law and committing fraud.

Third, the *T&M* court erred in assuming it had to choose between protecting Wisconsin consumers from a violator wherever that violator is located and protecting consumers only from violators located in Wisconsin. The statute covers both types of violations with different clauses. It prohibits a company both from "mak[ing]" *and* "caus[ing] to make" a false representation. A Wisconsin company like the defendants here makes its representations in Wisconsin; an Illinois company that places an ad in the Milwaukee State Journal "causes to make" a representation in Wisconsin to consumers located here.

B. The State need not prove pecuniary loss.

The court of appeals also correctly held that the State does not need to prove a pecuniary loss to prove a violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18. Petitioners rely on the statute applicable to private party lawsuits, which contains a pecuniary loss requirement. The State proceeds under different subsections that do not require a pecuniary loss.

The private right of action under Wis. Stat. § 100.18 provides that "[a]ny person *suffering pecuniary loss* because of a violation of this section by any other person may sue in any court of competent jurisdiction and shall recover such pecuniary loss, together with costs, including reasonable

¹ The court also relied on an Attorney General opinion from 1928. *T&M Farms v. CNH Indus. America, LLC*, 488 F. Supp. 3d 756, 762 (E.D. Wis. 2020) (citing 17 Op. Att'y Gen. 194 (1928)). This one-page opinion, however, did not even interpret the relevant statutory language (at that time, Wis. Stat. § 343.413), but instead advised that a plaintiff would have to be able to obtain service on an agent in Wisconsin to bring such a suit.

² Petitioners' standing argument is frivolous. The State clearly has an interest in deterring in-state businesses from making misrepresentations in advertisements, and the statute specifically gives the State the right to bring these types of suits.

attorney fees." Wis. Stat. § 100.18(11)(b)2. Unsurprisingly, this Court has held that a pecuniary loss is an element of a private cause of action. *See Tietsworth v. Harley-Davidson, Inc.*, 2004 WI 32, ¶¶ 38–39, 270 Wis. 2d 146, 677 N.W.2d 233. The model jury instruction relied upon by the circuit court tracks this line of cases.

The State, in contrast, has different enforcement powers. It proceeds under subsections (11)(a) or (d). Subsection (11)(a) provides that "[t]he department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection shall enforce this section. Actions to enjoin violation of this section or any regulations thereunder may be commenced and prosecuted by the department in the name of the state in any court having equity jurisdiction." Wis. Stat. § 100.18(11)(a). Subsection (11)(d) provides that the State "may commence an action in circuit court . . . to restrain by temporary or permanent injunction any violation of this section." Wis. Stat. § 100.18(11)(d). These subsections do not require the State to show a pecuniary or monetary loss.

This Court has already recognized that there is no pecuniary loss element for State enforcement actions. This Court said that "[t]here are two elements to this offense: There must be an advertisement or announcement, and that advertisement must contain a statement which is 'untrue, deceptive or misleading." *American TV*, 146 Wis. 2d at 300. Under *American TV*, the State was required to prove only two elements, and not pecuniary loss.

C. The errors were not harmless.

The circuit court's errors were not harmless because, on remand, the State will be able to present significant additional evidence. When a jury reviews that new evidence, its verdict will be based on instructions that properly state the law. And the circuit court will be able to order relief including an injunction and forfeitures regardless of pecuniary loss.³ In addition, as the court of appeals held, "the circuit court denied the State any relief" on the claims it proved at trial "based on the circuit court's incorrect view that the State needed to prove a pecuniary loss." *Talyansky*, 2023 WI App 42, ¶ 43, App. 017.

II. The court of appeals' decision presents no constitutional problems.

Perhaps due to the weakness of Petitioners' statutory text argument, they mainly contend that the court of appeals erred due to concerns about extraterritoriality and the dormant commerce clause.

This case involves no extraterritorial application of Wisconsin law. Defendants fail to explain how the State's securing of an injunction against an in-state business from disseminating advertisements from Wisconsin involves any sort of extraterritorial application. The State is regulating a business within its borders and specific conduct—the advertisements—that is done in Wisconsin. There is "clear statutory language" that the State can enforce in Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) against in-state businesses for making misrepresentations, regardless of whether the misrepresentations are received by consumers in another State. And the appropriate relief, such as forfeitures or restitution, should take into account everyone the business has affected.

Along the same lines, there is no dormant commerce clause problem. The U.S. Supreme Court recently made clear that an "antidiscrimination principle lies at the 'very core' of

³ Petitioners raise an argument about whether an injunction is appropriate relief. This is not an issue given that the case will be remanded, and the circuit court will make a determination on injunctive relief based on the new evidence.

our dormant Commerce Clause jurisprudence." Nat'l Pork Producers Council v. Ross, 598 U.S. 356, 369 (2023) (citation omitted). It also clarified that its prior cases involving extraterritoriality were addressing "the familiar concern with preventing purposeful discrimination against out-of-state economic interests." Id. at 371. The Court also made plain that the *Pike* balancing relied on by Petitioners is about discrimination against out-of-state businesses: "the presence or absence of discrimination in practice proved decisive" in each of the Court's cases on the subject. Id. at 378.4

There is no dormant commerce clause problem because discriminating against out-of-state Wisconsin is not businesses in favor of in-state businesses. The same law applies to all businesses who operate here: don't make false or misleading representations in your advertising. This is even more apparent here, where Wisconsin is taking action against an *in-state business*.

And there is no problem under the pre-National Pork *Producers* case law. That precedent would "invalidate[] state statutes that 'may adversely affect interstate commerce by subjecting activities to inconsistent regulations." Morley-Murphy Co. v. Zenith Elecs. Corp., 142 F.3d 373, 379 (7th Cir. 1998) (citation omitted). Petitioners have not shown that there is any inconsistent regulation, *i.e.*, that there is a State where it is legal to make the kinds of misrepresentations the State alleged them to have made. There is no complicated, overlapping web of regulations; most, if not all, States have laws prohibiting false advertising. All Wisconsin businesses must do to comply with the law is refrain from making

⁴ Further, Petitioners have forfeited any argument under Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc., 397 U.S. 137 (1970), because they did not raise this argument in the circuit court or court of appeals. In any event, there is no burden on interstate commerce in prohibiting misrepresentations given that misrepresentations are not lawful in any State.

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